**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

Barry Harris,  
Appellant

vs.

The State of Nevada,  
Respondent,

---

) Supreme Court Case No.: 76774

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

Electronically Filed  
Apr 26 2019 07:16 p.m.  
Singer Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

**MAYFIELD GRUBER & SHEETS**

Damian Sheets, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 10755

Kelsey Bernstein, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 13825

726 S. Casino Center Blvd.

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Telephone: (702) 598-1299

Facsimile: (702) 598-1266

dsheets@defendingnevada.com

Attorney for Appellant

**NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE**

### **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Nevada Supreme Court retains jurisdiction as an appeal from a verdict in a criminal case pursuant to NRS 177.015(3). A timely notice of appeal was filed on August 21, 2018, approximately five days after the Judgment of Conviction was filed.

### **NRAP 17 ROUTING STATEMENT**

This matter should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court as an appeal from a jury verdict involving a Category A felony with a sentence of 15 years to life pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(2)(A).

## **MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES**

### **I. Statement of the Issues**

1. Can Appellant be convicted of Kidnapping Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm when the State's only theory of the offense was involving use a firearm, for which Appellant was found Not Guilty?
2. Can Appellant be convicted of Kidnapping Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm when the substantial bodily harm was inflicted prior to the kidnapping?
3. Did the District Court commit error by admitting the victim's statements (both written and oral) as an excited utterance?
4. Did the District Court commit error by admitting a jury instruction regarding flight based on Appellant leaving the scene?
5. Did the District Court commit error by admitting, over Defense objection, a jury instruction for Kidnapping that is a partial statement of the law and likely to confuse or mislead the jury?

6. Does the doctrine of cumulative error warrant reversal in the instant case?

## **II. Statement of the Case**

On or about August 23, 2017, Appellant was charged in the Las Vegas Justice Court with a total of nine counts:

1. Burglary with Use of a Deadly Weapon
2. Kidnapping (First Degree) with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm
3. Assault with a Deadly Weapon
4. Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon
5. Domestic Battery by Strangulation
6. Domestic Battery Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm
7. Preventing or Dissuading a Witness
8. Carrying a Concealed Weapon
9. Ownership of a Gun by Prohibited Person

Following brief competency proceedings wherein Appellant was found competent to proceed, a preliminary hearing was set on October 26, 2017 and November 3, 2017. Both times, the alleged victim, Nicole Dotson, refused to attend despite a valid subpoena. The State requested a material witness warrant, and Ms. Dotson was subsequently arrested on the warrant. Preliminary hearing took place on December 14, 2017 and January 16, 2018. Appellant was bound over to the Eighth Judicial District Court on all charges.

Appellant was arraigned in District Court on January 18, 2018, where Mr. Harris invoked his right to a speedy trial within 60 days. The matter was sent to overflow, where it was referred back to the originating department. A status check on trial date was held on March 27, 2018. Calendar Call was heard on April 2, 2018, wherein both parties announced ready on the first setting.

Jury trial took place over five days and commenced from April 9, 2018 to April 16, 2018. Mr. Harris was only convicted on *one* of the original charges as alleged, with the remainder resulting in findings of Not Guilty or Guilty of lesser included offenses:

1. Burglary with Use of a Deadly Weapon – **Not Guilty**;
2. Kidnapping (First Degree) with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm – **Guilty of lesser included** offense, Kidnapping Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm;
3. Assault with a Deadly Weapon – **Guilty of lesser included** offense, misdemeanor assault;
4. Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon – **Guilty of lesser included** offense, misdemeanor battery constituting domestic violence
5. Domestic Battery by Strangulation – **Not Guilty**
6. Domestic Battery Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm – **Guilty**
7. Preventing or Dissuading a Witness – **Not Guilty**
8. Carrying a Concealed Weapon – **Not Guilty**
9. Ownership of a Gun by Prohibited Person – **Dismissed** by State

After continuing sentencing to discuss potential errors in his pre-sentence investigation report, Appellant was ultimately sentenced on August



14, 2018 to the following: for Kidnapping, 15 years to life; on misdemeanor assault, 6 months (concurrent); on misdemeanor battery constituting domestic violence, 6 months (concurrent); on domestic battery with substantial bodily harm, 24-60 months (concurrent). Appellant's total aggregate sentence was 15 years to life in the Nevada Department of Corrections. The Judgment of Conviction was filed August 16, 2018.

### **III. Statement of Facts**

The victim in this case, Nicole Dotson, gave a total of three different versions of what happened on August 23, 2017, with varying degrees of consistency between them; the first, she gave to Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department officers the night of the incident; the second, she gave on December 14, 2017 at Appellant's preliminary hearing; the third, she gave on April 10, 2018, during Appellant's jury trial. However, while the distinctions between each version carry legal significance, the generalized factual timeline remained largely consistent.

Prior to arriving home from work that evening, Ms. Dotson and Appellant Barry Harris were having an argument over the telephone regarding Barry "cheating as usual" (Appellant's Appendix, hereinafter "AA,"

31: 12). She reaffirmed this sentiment at trial, when describing the argument as stemming from “him not coming home” and Ms. Dotson “felt like he was cheating” (AA, 521: 23).

When she arrived, Ms. Dotson testified at trial that Barry was laying on the bed of the apartment, and the telephonic argument from earlier re-initiated (AA, 524: 21). She left the bedroom and went into the kitchen, and he followed her (id.). They continued to argue until Barry returned to the bedroom and laid back down on the bed; this time, Ms. Dotson followed and sat on the edge of the bed, where they continued to argue at length until tempers flared on both sides (AA, 526: 24). The argument culminated when Barry hit Ms. Dotson with a closed fist on her left eye (AA, 529: 21).

From there, the testimony diverges, and will be recounted chronologically. The statement by Ms. Dotson given to officers on that night was admitted as an excited utterance through the State’s first witness, Blake Ferron. Officer Ferron is a patrol officer with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, and was the first officer to arrive at the scene (AA, 486: 25). He was dispatched to the apartment at 11:25pm, knowing only that an anonymous caller had reported a possible domestic violence (AA, 489: 8; 489: 17).

Once he arrived, Officer Ferron observed a silver vehicle leaving the apartment complex that “kind of stopped” when he entered through the gate (AA, 490: 5); Officer Ferron wrote down the license plate number of the silver vehicle, later tied to Barry, and proceeded to the apartment. He made contact with Ms. Dotson after she had already left the apartment and was on her way down the stairs (AA, 493: 12). When asked to describe her demeanor, Officer Ferron testified that she was very shaken and “seemed like she was trying to get away from the apartment or out of the area” (AA, 496: 13). Officer Ferron asked her questions regarding what occurred that night, which she answered.

According to Officer Ferron’s recollection, Ms. Dotson told him that she had told Barry she no longer wanted to be with him, and he then “became increasingly agitated towards her, and then started to strangle her with two hands around her neck” (AA, 498: 14). Ms. Dotson was then able to run from the bedroom into the living room, where Barry followed (AA, 531: 2). He grabbed a handgun, put it into her mouth, and forced her at gunpoint into the bathroom (AA, 499: 17). She sat on the bathroom floor until Barry left the apartment, after which she waited before leaving the apartment herself and subsequently ran into the Metro officer at the bottom of the stairs (AA, 500: 24).

After being photographed and interviewed, Ms. Dotson refused medical treatment. Officer Ferron testified that throughout the investigation process, Ms. Dotson did not appear to calm down (AA, 498: 23). At the insistence of the officers, Ms. Dotson agreed to go to the hospital in a second ambulance that arrived on the scene (AA, 504: 12).

Ms. Dotson's testimony during the preliminary hearing was both consistent and inconsistent with her initial statement to police. She testified that she and Barry had been in a dating relationship about six years, and he had a key to the apartment (AA, 8: 1; 9: 4). She testified that she didn't remember Barry putting his hands on her neck, but did state that Barry would not let her leave the apartment when he had his gun (AA, 12: 15; 14: 24; 16: 15). She also testified that Barry struck and kicked her more than once (AA, 20: 19).

One significant distinction between Ms. Dotson's statement to officers and her preliminary hearing testimony is when Barry supposedly retrieved his gun. The incident took place in three distinct areas: the bedroom, the living room, and the bathroom. It's uncontested that Barry punched Ms. Dotson in the bedroom, where the argument first became physical, and then she ran into the living room. That night, Ms. Dotson told Officer Ferron that Barry

retrieved the gun while she was in the living room, but at preliminary hearing testified that she hadn't seen the gun until she entered the bathroom: "Q: Okay. Did you see the gun before you went to the bathroom? A: No" (AA, 17: 16)

Ms. Dotson testified that she doesn't remember him putting the gun to her head, and was adamant that he never put the gun in her mouth, contrary to what she had told officers that night (AA, 22: 22; 25: 13). She further could not describe the gun, nor could she remember how she described it to Officer Ferron (AA, 30: 10). Ms. Dotson was consistent to the officers and while testifying that when she was in the bathroom, Barry gathered her belongings while still holding his gun (AA, 75: 23). She stayed in the bathroom until she heard the deadbolt lock with a key from the outside (id.).

During trial, Ms. Dotson's version of events was still somewhat different than her previous testimony. She testified again that Barry did in fact live with her in the apartment, which is why he had a key and kept personal belongings there (AA, 516: 8; 517: 23). He stayed there about five nights per week (AA, 509: 15). After he struck her in the bedroom, she ran into the living room and began screaming for help (AA, 531: 2). Barry followed her into the living room where they "began to tussle a little bit, and then at some point he walked away

and I went into the bathroom” (AA, 532: 7). During trial, Ms. Dotson denied the use of a firearm altogether.

He walked away from the bathroom multiple times to collect his belongings, but she did not leave (AA, 532: 20). While in the bathroom, she peeked around the corner and saw him going through his pockets to remove what “at the time I thought[] was a gun” (AA, 533: 21), and afterwards returned to the bathroom and poured lemonade on her (AA, 534: 13). She remained in the bathroom for “at least like 30 minutes” while Barry left the apartment (AA, 537: 18). She testified that she was in the bathroom for about 15 minutes after Barry had left “until I knew for sure he was gone” (538: 2; 569: 9).

The distinctions between her statements primarily revolve around the alleged firearm use; she first told officers that Barry brandished the firearm after she had run into the living room, and beat her about the head with it. She next testified at preliminary hearing that Barry only used the firearm when she was in the bathroom, but that he did not strike her with it. She finally testified during trial that no firearm was used at all, and she mistakenly believed he had a gun but her vision was extremely obstructed given the swelling of her eye. On cross examination, Ms. Dotson also conceded that she

physically could not have seen Barry with a gun while he collected his belongings because there was a wall blocking the line of sight from the bathroom to the bedroom (AA, 643: 8).

Ms. Dotson also testified at trial regarding the state of her injuries, or lack thereof. Specifically, with the exception of her eye, she had *no injury* to her face, head, neck or abdomen despite telling officers that she had been strangled with two hands, kicked several times, and struck repeatedly with a firearm (AA, 542: 17). Medical examination revealed no bruises, scratches or bumps on her head; after taking several scans of her head, neck and chest area, there were also no signs of strangulation (AA, 639: 25; 648: 14). Her *only* injury was that to her eye, but she described a four-month healing process for her eye, which required surgery to remove a blood clot although the injury no longer caused her pain at that point (AA, 543: 9).

Ms. Dotson was confronted with her inconsistent testimony during trial. When asked why she testified differently than her preliminary hearing, she stated that while she was in custody on the material witness warrant, an officer at the correctional center told her “that if you give a statement at the preliminary hearing that different from the statement to the police, that you would be found in contempt of court and given jail time” (AA, 614: 13). As a

result, she testified as consistently as she could from her memory, but was unable to remember exactly what she had told the officers that night in many respects.

The State also tried to impeach Ms. Dotson with recorded jail calls between her and Barry prior to trial. During the calls, Ms. Dotson indicated that she wanted Barry to come home, and would say what he wanted her to say. However, when playing the tape further, Barry only repeatedly admonished Ms. Dotson to simply tell the truth:

Q: Okay. In fact, during several of those phone calls, my client actually told you that he just wanted the truth; correct?

A: Yeah, there were times when he did say that.

Q: And, in fact, in one phone call he says all I want is the truth no matter what.

A: Correct.

Q: And – and to you, did that mean – did that mean no matter what as long as it helps me, or just no matter what good or bad?

A: He knew it meant no matter what good or bad.

Q: Okay. And – in another phone call, he – you were – he encouraged you to come to court; is that correct?

A: Correct.

Q: Because he wanted you to testify; correct?

A: Correct.

Q: Because he wanted the jury to hear the truth; correct?

A: Correct.

Q: In fact, at one point you said something along the lines of I'll do whatever you need, and he said don't – don't do as I say, do what's true, do what's the truth, and that's all I want.

A: That's correct (AA, 616: 24)



Following Officer Ferron and Ms. Dotson, the third witness to testify at trial was Gabrielle Guerrero, a crime scene analyst with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department. Ms. Guerrero interviewed Ms. Dotson to document her injuries, describing her as very upset during the process (AA, 715: 25). Ms. Guerrero also photographed the interior of the apartment, but no firearm was ever located (AA, 624: 8).

The fourth witness was Officer Nicholas Bianco, another patrol officer with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department that arrived to the apartment complex after Officer Ferron. Officer Bianco conceded that prior to giving Ms. Dotson a blank voluntary statement, he specifically told her what to say and emphasize in her report, even telling her that emphasizing certain aspects of the incident was “icing on the cake” (AA, 760: 8).

The State’s next witness was Detective Ken Krmpotich with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (AA, 794: 7). The Detective admitted that he simply copy/pasted the earlier officer’s report when seeking a search warrant to impound Barry’s vehicle, which was located more than a week after the incident (AA, 802: 22). In the vehicle, Detective Krmpotich located ammunition and a magazine in the trunk sealed inside a bag labelled “Girl Talk.” Although Detective Krmpotich states that he was instructed to search

for all items that would show a possessory interest in the vehicle, he in fact ignored several documents that showed a possessory interest by people other than Barry. While no items in the vehicle were tied directly to Barry Harris, several other documents were found in the name of other individuals, including the registration and insurance card found in the vehicle:

Q: In the vehicle, Officer, you actually found registration for the vehicle and that registration said that it was for Sheila Towns; correct?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. Did you impound that in your return, sir?

A: No, I did not.

Q: Did you impound that insurance card [for Sheila Towns] in your return, sir?

A: I did not.

...

Q: Now, you had testified earlier that your warrant instructed you to search out for any possessory interest that Mr. Harris might have in the car or the firearms; correct?

A: Yes.

Q: Isn't it true that the warrant actually instructs you to seek out any items of personal property which would tend to establish a possessory interest in the items seized?

A: Yes (AA, 816: 21).

...

Q: And – and the only document inside the vehicle that actually linked a name in that vehicle did not have my client's name on it; correct?

A: There were more documents in there with names on them.

Q: Okay.

A: But I only grabbed those two because those were the names that were on the documents.

Q: Okay. So there were other documents with Ms. Towns' name on them, as well?

A: There probably could have been (AA, 831: 1)

The sixth witness was Lisa Gavin, a forensic pathologist medical examiner for Clark County (AA, 849: 16). Dr. Gavin testified that after having reviewed the scans and tests performed on Ms. Dotson, she could not conclude that strangulation took place, stating only that the evidence was “inconclusive” due to the lack of injury (AA, 872: 19). The last witness for the State was Kevin Carey, a detective with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department (AA, 888). Through Detective Carey, the State introduced the jail calls to the jury as described above.

Following the testimony of Detective Carey, the State rested. Only one witness testified for the defense, Sheila Towns, the registered owner of the silver vehicle allegedly used by Barry that night. Ms. Towns testified that at least five different family members routinely use the same vehicle where the ammunition was found in the trunk (AA, 975: 7). Barry exercised his constitutional right not to testify, and the Defense rested.

Jury instructions were argued on the fourth day of jury trial. Specifically, two contested jury instructions are relevant for purposes of the instant appeal. First, the State proposed an instruction regarding flight and

consciousness of guilt (AA, 1039: 24) (Jury Instruction 41). Defense objected on the grounds that no indication of flight had been presented as opposed to Mr. Harris simply leaving the scene, which was insufficient. The Court admitted the instruction, concluding that “You have him gathering up his items and clothes of a man found in the trunk. I think the State’s got enough there to justify it” (AA, 1040: 13). The second contested instruction was regarding the definition of kidnapping, and whether “incidental movement” alone could support the charge. The Defense proposed a separate instruction to specifically state that incidental movement could not support a charge of kidnapping, but the Court omitted this entire portion of the proposed instruction, admitting the instructions only on finding dual convictions for both kidnapping and the associated offense of battery with incidental movement under certain circumstances (AA, 1017: 3) (Jury Instruction 18). However, what constitutes “incidental movement” was not defined.

During closing arguments, the State reiterated the basis for the Kidnapping charge: “The defendant willfully seized and/or confined Nicole Dotson with the intent to hold or detain her for the purpose of inflicting that substantial bodily harm, the continual beating, using a deadly weapon, and substantial bodily harm resulted” (AA, 1065: 9). The substantial bodily harm

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