IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed May 28 2019 02:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

BARRY HARRIS,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 76774

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DAMIAN SHEETS, ESQ. Nevada Bar #010755 KELSEY BERNSTEIN, ESQ. Nevada Bar #013825 Mayfield Gruber & Sheets 726 S. Casino Center Blvd. Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 598-1299 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, there was a factual basis for Appellant's kidnapping charge. Appellant was charged with the primary crime of kidnapping, and the State added an additional enhancement for Appellant's use of a deadly weapon. Appellant was subsequently acquitted of using a deadly weapon, but that did not preclude the jury from finding Appellant guilty of any other types of kidnapping. The jury found sufficient evidence

that Appellant was guilty of kidnapping resulting in substantial bodily harm, and that conviction must stand as it does not require the use of a deadly weapon.

Second, Appellant was properly convicted of kidnapping resulting in substantial bodily harm. The kidnapping began when Appellant exerted force on the victim, and that occurred when Appellant punched the victim in the eye. From the time the crime began until Appellant left the apartment, the victim was unable to escape. Moreover, the substantial bodily harm component of Appellant's conviction is also a sentencing enhancement, and therefore, Appellant's kidnapping conviction must stand even if this Court finds the crime occurred before the kidnapping.

Third, the district court properly admitted the victim's statements as an excited utterance. Appellant spoke with law enforcement minutes after the crime occurred and she was visibly under a state of distress, trembling, shaken up, and crying. She had no motive to fabricate her statements, and Appellant was not prejudiced by these statements as the victim testified during Appellant's trial as to what happened inside the apartment. Thus, the district court did err by admitting these statements as excited utterances.

Fourth, the district court properly instructed the jury on the basis of flight. The State provided evidence that Appellant was still at the scene when law enforcement arrived, yet he made the decision to continue to leave the premises. Moreover, evidence of flight on its own was not enough to justify any of Appellant's

convictions and therefore, Appellant was not prejudiced by the admittance of a flight instruction.

Fifth, the admitted kidnapping instruction was proper as it relates to incidental movement. Appellant proffered a jury instruction that misstated the law, and Appellant has failed to show that a different result would have been reached even if the court allowed his instruction.

Last, there was no cumulative error. The issue of guilt was not close as the jury found Appellant guilty of half of the crimes he was charged with. The quantity and character of the error favors the State as all the claims brought in this appeal are insufficient to warrant reversal, and the Appellant committed several grave crimes.

As such, this Court should find that Appellant's claims do not warrant reversal and affirm the Judgement of Conviction.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE WAS A FACUTAL BASIS FOR APPELLANT'S KIDNAPPING CHARGE

Appellant claims that the State only alleged that he committed kidnapping with a use of a firearm, and since he was acquitted of using a firearm his kidnapping conviction is invalid. Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB") at 28. This claim is belied by the record and suitable for only summary denial under <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984).

In the Information the State charged Appellant with kidnapping with use of a deadly weapon resulting in substantial bodily harm under NRS 200.310, 200.320, and 193.165. NRS 193.165 outlines the penalty enhancements For crimes committed with the use of a deadly weapon and states:

- 1. Except as otherwise provided in NRS 193.169, any person who uses a firearm or other deadly weapon or a weapon containing or capable of emitting tear gas, whether or not its possession is permitted by NRS 202.375, in the commission of a crime shall, in addition to the term of imprisonment prescribed by statute for the crime, be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for a minimum term of not less than 1 year and a maximum term of not more than 20 years. In determining the length of the additional penalty imposed, the court shall consider the following information:
 - (a) The facts and circumstances of the crime;
 - (b) The criminal history of the person;
 - (c) The impact of the crime on any victim;
 - (d) Any mitigating factors presented by the person; and
 - (e) Any other relevant information.

The court shall state on the record that it has considered the information described in paragraphs (a) to (e), inclusive, in determining the length of the additional penalty imposed.

- 2. The sentence prescribed by this section:
- (a) Must not exceed the sentence imposed for the crime; and
- (b) Runs consecutively with the sentence prescribed by statute for the crime.
- 3. This section does not create any separate offense but provides an additional penalty for the primary offense, whose imposition is contingent upon the finding of the prescribed fact.

4. The provisions of subsections 1, 2 and 3 do not apply where the use of a firearm, other deadly weapon or tear gas is a necessary element of such crime.

(Emphasis Added).

Therefore, the use of a deadly weapon was not an element or necessary factual theory of Appellant's charge; it was merely a sentencing enhancement for the crime of kidnapping. As such, the State only needed to prove that a kidnapping occurred and it was proper for the jury to find Appellant guilty of Kidnapping resulting in substantial bodily harm although Appellant was acquitted of possessing a firearm. Indeed, the jury was instructed that Appellant could be found guilty of several different theories of kidnapping, including those that did not involve the use of a deadly weapon:

If you find beyond a reasonable doubt that Defendant committed First Degree Kidnapping with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm, then you are instructed that the verdict of First Degree Kidnapping with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm is the appropriate verdict.

If, however, you find beyond a reasonable doubt that a kidnapping occurred, but if the State did not prove some or all of the remaining elements beyond a reasonable doubt, then you shall return the appropriate verdict based on your findings.

For instance, if you find beyond a reasonable doubt that a first degree kidnapping did occur and that a deadly weapon was used in the commission of the kidnapping, but that the kidnapping did not result in substantial bodily harm to the victim, then you are instructed that First Degree Kidnapping with Use of a Deadly Weapon is the appropriate verdict.

If you find beyond a reasonable doubt that a first-degree kidnapping did occur and that the kidnapping resulted in substantially bodily harm to the victim, but you do not find that a deadly weapon was used in commission of the kidnapping , then you are instructed that First-Degree Kidnapping Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm is the appropriate verdict.

If you find beyond a reasonable doubt that a first degree kidnapping did occur, but you do not find that a deadly weapon was used in the commission of the kidnapping or that the kidnapping resulted in substantial bodily harm to the victim, then you are instructed that first degree kidnapping is the appropriate verdict.

If you do not find beyond a reasonable doubt that a first-degree kidnapping did occur, then you are instructed that Not Guilty is the appropriate verdict.

You are instructed that you may only select one of the options above. You may not return more than one verdict for each count.

5 AA 1119.

That Appellant was subsequently convicted of kidnapping resulting in substantial bodily harm proves that the jury did not find that Appellant used a firearm in the commission of the kidnapping. Nonetheless, the lack of a firearm did not negate that fact that a kidnapping occurred.

Accordingly, this Court should find that there was a factual basis for Appellant's kidnapping charge, and affirm the Judgement of Conviction.

///

II. APPELLANT WAS PROPERLY CONVICTED OF KIDNAPPING WITH SUBSTANTIAL BODILY HARM

Appellant claims that he could not be found guilty of kidnapping with substantial bodily harm because the harm was inflicted prior to the kidnapping of the victim. AOB 28.

Appellant was found guilty of first-degree kidnapping resulting in substantial bodily harm pursuant to NRS 200.320 which states:

A person convicted of kidnapping in the first degree is guilty of a category A felony and shall be punished:

- 1. Where the kidnapped person suffers substantial bodily harm *during the act of kidnapping or the subsequent detention and confinement or in attempted escape or escape therefrom*, by imprisonment in the state prison:
 - (a) For life without the possibility of parole;
- (b) For life with the possibility of parole, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 15 years has been served; or
- (c) For a definite term of 40 years, with eligibility for parole beginning when a minimum of 15 years has been served.

(Emphasis Added).

Appellant claims that since he punched the victim in her eye before she was forced to go into the bathroom, he cannot be found guilty of Kidnapping resulting in substantial bodily harm. This is not so.

Appellant's kidnapping of the victim began with the use of force against her, not her movement. All accounts of the crime illustrate that Appellant punched the

victim in the bedroom, and from the time he inflicted harm on her until he left the apartment, the victim was unable to leave. After punching the victim in the bedroom, the victim made her way into the living room, but she never made it to the door in order to exit the apartment. Appellant continued to inflict harm on her to prevent her escape. The victim testified that a tussle occurred when she was in the living room which is how she ended up in the bathroom, and that Appellant inflicted more harm on her when she was confined to the restroom by hitting her on the head. 3 AA 531-34. Thus, it was the initial harm in the bedroom that started the kidnapping, not the sole movement of the victim from the living room into the bathroom.

Moreover, even if this Court finds that the substantial bodily harm occurred before the act of kidnapping, the substantial bodily harm component is merely a sentencing enhancement for the act of first-degree kidnapping and not a theory for Appellant's charge. Therefore, Appellant's kidnapping conviction must stand.

As such, this Court should find that Appellant was properly convicted of kidnapping resulting in substantial bodily harm and affirm the Judgement of Conviction.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED THE VICTIM'S STATEMENTS AS AN EXCITED UTTERANCE

Appellant claims that the victim's statements to officers were improperly admitted as excited utterances because a significant amount of time passed between

the crime and her relay of it to the officers, and because she had motive to fabricate her story. AOB 39.

A trial court's decision to admit evidence will not be reversed on appeal unless it is manifestly erroneous. <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 428, 431–32, 610 P.2d 727, 730 (1980). An excited utterance is "[a] statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition. NRS 51.065. The proper focus of the excited utterance inquiry is whether the declarant made the statement while under the stress of the startling event. <u>Medina v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 346, 143 P.3d 471 (2006). The elapsed time between the event and the statement is a factor to be considered but only to aid in determining whether the declarant was under the stress of the startling event when he or she made the statement. Id.

In <u>Medina</u>, the victim's statements made a day after her rape were considered excited utterances based on the condition of the victim as well as the fact that she remained under the stress of excitement caused by the event. On appeal, this Court found:

NRS 51.095 does not limit the statute's application to those statements made shortly after a startling event. Instead, NRS 51.095 states that an excited utterance is "[a] statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." While the time elapsed between the startling event and the statement is an important factor, the absence of an express time requirement in the statute demonstrates that the Legislature did not intend to limit the statute's application to those

statements made within a specified time after a startling event.14 The Legislature's only limit to the statute's application is that the statement is made while the declarant is still under the stress of excitement caused by the event. Therefore, district courts must examine all of the facts and circumstances surrounding a statement in addition to the time elapsed from the startling event.

Therefore, Appellant's claim that the victim was no longer under the stress of the event because she waited fifteen minutes before leaving her apartment, and remained in an excited state for hours after the crime lacks merit. Multiple witnesses testified that the victim was under a state of distress and she was trembling, shaken up, and crying. Additionally, she met with law enforcement minutes after she was attacked. The victim had no motive to fabricate her story because she did not want Appellant to even be criminalized for his acts. 3 AA 559. If it was not for the neighbor calling the police, the victim would not likely have even given a statement. Furthermore, Appellant's statements were in response to general questions as to what happened. Appellant provides no evidence that the victim's statement was improperly solicited by law enforcement. Last, Appellant suffered no prejudice by these statements as the victim testified as to what exactly happened inside the apartment. Which version of events the jury found credible rested within their discretion.

As such, this Court should find that the victim's statements were properly admitted as excited utterances and affirm the Judgement of Conviction.

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE BASIS OF FLIGHT

Appellant claims that the district court improperly admitted a flight instruction because it was based solely on Appellant gathering his belongings and leaving the scene. AOB 42.

It is proper to instruct on flight where it is reasonable to infer flight from the evidence presented. <u>Hutchins v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 103, 113, 867 P.2d 1136, 1143 (1994). Flight is more than merely leaving the scene of the crime. It embodies the idea of going away with a consciousness of guilt and for the purpose of avoiding arrest. <u>Theriault v. State</u>, 92 Nev. 185, 547 P.2d 668 (1976).

In the instant case, the State provided sufficient evidence to justify a flight instruction. After Appellant committed the crime he grabbed his belongings and put them into the silver car he was driving. Before he could leave, however, he came into contact with law enforcement. Officer Ferron testified that when he arrived at the scene he saw the silver vehicle acting strangely. 3 AA 490. In fact, the car was acting so strange that he decided to write down the license plate of the vehicle. Id. Officer Ferron stated that the vehicle came to a sudden halt before proceeding to leave the apartment complex. Id. This is more than enough evidence for the jury to reasonably infer that Appellant stopped, thought about his next steps, and then decided to leave the apartment for the purpose of evading the police.

Moreover, even if this Court were to find that the flight instruction was improper, reversal is not warranted because the record shows neither a miscarriage of justice nor prejudice to Appellant's substantial rights occurred, and it is apparent that the same result would have been reached without the error. Potter v. State, 96 Nev. 875, 619 P.2d 1222 (1980), citing Ogden v. State, 96 Nev. 258, 607 P.2d 576 (1980); Carr v. State, 96 Nev. 238, 607 P.2d 114 (1980). The jury was given the following flight instruction:

The flight of a person is not sufficient in itself to establish guilt; however, if flight is proved, it is circumstantial evidence in determining guilt or innocence.

The essence of flight embodies the idea of deliberately going away with consciousness of guilt and for the purpose of avoiding apprehension or prosecution. The weight to which such circumstance is entitled is a matter for the jury to determine.

5 AA 1137.

Therefore, evidence of Appellant's flight alone was not enough to justify any of his convictions, and the jury's determination was based on the overwhelming evidence the State presented to prove that Appellant committed these crimes independent of the fact Appellant left the scene.

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